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THEREUPON

COURT REPORTER: ‘Would'you raise .your right
hand, please; Do you swear or affirm fhe testimony
you're about to give will‘be the trgth; sé help you
God?

THE WITNESS: I do.

MS. DOFFLEMYER: This is Captain Nikki

Dofflemyer with the Department of Public

‘Protection's Internal Affairs unit. Today's date

is the 13th of December 2011. The time is

‘approximately 11:10 hours. We're conducting this

interview with Director Kevin Swéatp We're at the
county admin buildin§ located in Daytona Beach,
Florida; This is a recorded interview statement
with Director Sweat. Director Sweat was given a
written notice of the intent to intérview and
appear today and provide a sworn statement.
Director Sweat is not the suﬁject of this
investigationi. He_isAcurrently on duty, and has
been released from serﬁicé to‘participate in this
interview. Director Sweat was provided a copy of
his Officer Bill of Rights and Advisementvof
Garrity prior to this interview.

Alsoc present in the room is Mr. John Whiteman,

attorney at law. He will be conducting this
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~interview today with Director Sweat.
Director Swéat, can you identify,yourséif for
the record, please?
- THE WITNESS: I'm Kevin C. Sweat, director of
fvdlusia County Beach Safety.
MS. DOFFLEMYER: And, Si?, be advised that
; this is currently an active and open Internal
Affairs investigation. Per'statute, yoﬁ'ré not to
' discuss any part of this investigation with anyone
. until the'case comes to closure. |
THE WITNESS: Yes.
MS. DOFFLEM?ER: Thank you.
KEVIN C. SWEAT,
having been first duly sworn, was examined
and testified upon his oath as fo}lows:
EXAMINATION
BY MR. WHITEMAN:
. Q By name is John Whiteman. I'm a>private
attérney; I work at St. Johns Law Group in
St.i Augustine. I don't know a lot of the background
thihgs that you know, such as how the organization of
the department is set up, and so I probably will be
askﬁng you some of those questions as well -- |
A Yes, sir.

Q -- to help me throughfthis.
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Has-anyone told you why I'm here doing this,
as opposed to somebody from the county attorney's
offiée?

‘A Yes, sir.

Q Okay. Do you have any questions about that?

gA " No.
Q Okay. Good. You are Director Kevin Sweat?
A Yes.
e Okay. And you are director of what?
A Division of Beach‘Safety, County of Volusia.

PO Okay. And who do you report to?

- A Currently, Deputy Pubiic Protection Director
Joé;Pozzo.

. Q Okay. Direct 44 deputy public --

: A Deputy director of‘Department of Public
Proﬁection.

Q And then who is' Mike Coffin?

A He is the director of the Department of Public
Protection.
Q And as that's set up, you have Mike at the

top, then you have his deputy, and how do the
orgénizatiOHal lines go from that?

; A There are, I believe, seven different
|
] o
divisions that they oversee, and one of them is the

i

{. . . .
Divﬁsion of Beach Safety, which includes the department

4
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that I am currently the difector of, and then there's --
I could staft éuessing, but there's animal control,
corréctions, EMS, fire, a few others. |

; 0 Okay. And s0 there's seven divisions,‘and
youQre in charge of the Divisioh of Beach Safety?

; A Yes, sif.

0 Okay. BAnd how long have you been the director
of the Division of Beach Safety?

© A Approximately ten years this month.

: 0 Now, I've gead th;ough‘some materials, and I
seefwords like lifeguard and senidr lifeguard, and can
you;tell me -- and I've also noticed senior lifeguard
appéars to be a law enforcement officer. Can you sort
of éive me & primer on bow that works or what thesé
dif%erent pésitions are?:

4 A Lifeguards are'primarily part-time employees
tha% sit on lifeguard tdwérs and provide some additional
dut%es, such as lunch reliefs and jet ski zone and
things of that nature. A senior lifeguard -- and
actpally theére's a step in between there. There's a
bea%h safety specialist that is a‘full—timé lifeguard,
andfthere’s also some témporary BSSs, thch are 32 hours
ins%ead of 40, but they serve the same role as ~-- they

i

]

perform lifeguard functions, are EMTs, do patrols, lunch

i
’

relﬁef, things of that nature, but they do not have

|
!
i
i
i
H
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sworn powers. The senior lifequards are law enforcement -

officers, emergency medical technicians, and lifeguards,

and %hey perform all of those functions.

;Q Now, as the director of Division of Beach
Safgty, are you in char§e‘of lifeguérds, seniér
1iféguards, the beéch séfety specialists}‘they_all come
undér you?

; A Ultimately, ves. There's layers in between.

There's lifeguard supervisors and there's a deputy

chief.
l 0 Okay. Now, do yoﬁ know Paige Wiﬁters?
A Yes, sir.
ﬁ 0 And how do you know her?
bA » She is an employee of the Division of Beach
Saféty

Q‘ Okay. And what type of employee is she, a
senior lifegua:&, lifeguard?

A She is curreﬁtly a senior lifeguard. She
sta%ted as a‘part—time‘lifeguard{

o] Okay. She's a senior lifeguard. Okay. And’

do you know when she became a senior lifeguard?

i
A No, sir.

P

i . . A
;0 Can you give me an approximation?

A Within the last -- within the last year for

. i

sure, and 1'd say within the last six months.
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Q Okay. So she was initially hired as a

lifgguard?

A Yes, sir.

? Q And is she a long-term employee? 'I‘mean is ==~
I dgn't know -- how -- what would you --

: A Two to three years is m§ estimate.

: 0 Two to three years.. How old do you think she
is?

A Forties.

Q Okay. So she was employed at a fairly
advénced age for a lifeguard, or is that not --

A That would be your comment, not mine.

o) Well, I -- you know. Okay. Gotcha. But sé
the;two to three years that she's'been employed goes
back to when she wés first employed as a lifeguard?

A Yes, sir.

e It sounds like it's a fairly large step to go
from a lifeguard to a senior lifeguard because now you
ar@ a law.enforcement officer, certified law enforcement
ofﬁicer?

A Yes, I believe so.

0 Okay. What -- is there any kind of -- what
kiﬁd of training do they -- does a lifeguard get to
become a senior lifeguard?

i

A They would have to -- well, obviously they're
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already trained as.lifeguards. They'd have to become an
emeréency medical technician, whicﬁ would require a
semeéter out at thé college, or another college of their
chooéing. They would also require to take the basic law
énfoiéement academy, which is, I believe, somewhere
around 720 hours, estimate, as well as state test and
nafiénal test.

;Q Okay. Is there any probationary period that

they go through when they are promoted to senior

lifeguard?
A Yes. They have a year probation.
0 So if she was promoted just within the last

yeéf; then she'd still be a probationary f;
‘: A I believe she's still a pfobationaryiempicyee.
0 In addition to the basic LEO -- law
enforcement academy work that you mentioned, is there
anyzfield traiﬁing or anything like that that's done by

the  department --

A Yes.
Q  -- or the division?
A - There's classroom field training as well as

ride-along field training.

! Q Is there a specific course for that field

‘training, ‘a number of hours or --

i . .
CA I'm sure there is. 1It's a couple weeks in a
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classroom, and then an additional, I think, four to six
weeks in the field, as an eétimate.

Q And when they're in the field, is that‘when
théy're assigned with someone else?

A They're assigned>a field training officer who
is serving in ‘that role year-roundi

0 Okay. Okay. So the fieid training, you
think, is a couplé weeks in class and then four weeks --

A An estimate of four to six weeks in the field.

‘Q‘ Four to six weeks. Are you familiar with

Captain Gardner?

A Yes, sir.
0 What's his first name?
A Richard, I believe, is his technical full

name.

Q  What do you call him, Rich?

A Rich.
0 Now, how are you familiar with him?
A He is -~ was serving as the investigator for

the Division of Beach Safety.

0. Does the Division of Beach Safety have a group
of investigators, or just one investigator, or --

A There's one primarily assigned, and tﬁen as
cases dictate, we may assign additional assistants with

him.

10
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Q Okay. 1I'm trying to think of this in the way
I think of a traditional sheriff's office; they usually
have like an investigative unit. And do you~have'an

investigative unit, .or you just really have an

- investigative officer, and then he handles the

investigations, but if he needs help, then you assign
another inveétigator?

A Correct. The.way it’curreﬁtly Qorks, we have
one person éssigned to investigations. All of the level
oné felonies are handled by the sheriff's office, sc we
handle a lot of property crimes and things of that
nature, and as cases dictate, we would assign someone
else who's had the fraining, or needs the training with
him, to assist with hisvcaseload.

o) And so now the -- his jurisdiction, because
you said the sheriff's office investigates certain
¢rimes as well, does it end where the sand ends, or how
does that work?

A No, he's got.countywide jurisdiction.

Q Okay. 1If he'é‘;nvestigating a crime, is it a
crihe that occurred on the beach --

A Yes.

Q  ~-- as opposed to on the pavement -- 1 mean the
street, 50 feet off the beach?

A‘ Correct. If it was off the beach, we would
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give thaf to another jurisdiction, unless it happened on
an approach, which is part of the beach, then he would
investigate it, unless it{was a level one felony, in
which he would turn it dver to sheriff's office.

Q‘ But if it's like a theft of somebody;s
pocketbook on the sand, he can follow that wherever it
goes? | |

A Correct.

Q Is Captain Gardner, is he involved at all in

‘the field training program?

A No.

Q Okay. Does he -- now, that's -- he currently
is not. Has he in the past been involved with the field
tfaining»and evaluation program?

A Not‘to my knowledge.

0 Okay. You indicéted,there's a classroom
portion of it. Do you know whether he's ?—'whethe: he
currently teaches any portion of .that or in the past has
taught any po:tion of that?‘

A Not to my knowledgé; Captain Berard would
know that answer.

Q Captain who?

: A Berard.
§ ‘Q And he is?

i\ Oversees the training.

12
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- Q Okay. Is that a separate division, the
training, or --

A It's not a separate division. He's an
employee with the Division of Beach Safety and he
oversees training.

0 Okay. When you have one of these individuals
that's going from lifeguard to senior lifeguard and
they're undergoing this training, field traiﬁing, who is
theif supervisor?

‘A Captain Berard would be the overall
supervisor, and then their field training officer would
be their supervisor during the time they were assigned
to theﬁ.

Q  Okay. So they‘fe basically assigned to field
training, and their supervisor would be .their -- would
be the field training officer that's assigned to them,
their immediate supervisor would be?

A Correct.

Q Now, do you have some form of observation
reports or training evaluation reports or anything?

A Yes.

Q What are those called or what -- as best you
can tell me?

A They're baSically what you said; they're

observation reports that a series of notes are taken and

i3
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skills are performed and assessments are given, and then
those are reviewed by the field training officers and
the field training supervisor.

-0 Okay. The observation reports, are>they done

on g weekly basis, a daily basis, monthly basis, or...

A I'm not sure. I beiieve they're daily,
though,‘ |
| Q ‘ Okay. And who would complete that on an
individual trainee?
A The field trainingrofficer.
0 Okay. Are those -- when those are
coméleted -- and I assume they're turned in to someplace
or they're put in a file or -- those are written
repértS?
A Correct. They're given to Captain Berard.
Q Okay. As the --
A Supervisor of training.
Q —-- supervisor of training. . Thanks.
Ckay. So he wouid get those and he'd review
those evéluations? |
i A Yes.

!

0 Okay. And ultimately, how do you know whether
{

a trainee passes or fails? Or who decides whether a

tr@inee passes or fails?
H
1

A It's done within the field training officer's

14
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meetings that they have on each segment they meet. - They
discuss their deficiencies and their performance, and

then it is within that meeting, if they've met the

"qualifications and they haven't failed any of the

sections, then they go forward.

| D Okay. So each segment ---when you said each
segment,’there‘s like tgis segment of training that
deais with onevsugject and thén’there's énother
segment --

A I believe‘there's a list of criteria they have
to éomplete. And once they complete all those and also
ridé with the different field training officers, because
they're assigned a different one every two weeks —-

Q QOkay.

A == then that's Qhen they complete.

Q Okay. And so then you have the daily training

Observation reports or whatever, and at some point do

all the training officers sit down and they review all
of them and talk about each of the individuals, ‘or you
don't know that?

A Yes, they do.

that would make sense.

Q0 T would assume that, you know, they rotate
{
thfough them so they all get exposure to the trainee,
and

A Yes.
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Would Captain Gardner be in a position where

he would ever review the daily observation reports?

A

Q

operating

A

Q

Not that I'm aware of.
Does he ever serve as acting deputy chief?
Yes.

Okay. And so the chief is who again? I'm

The deputy chief is Scott Petersohn.

So’ Gardner does serve from time to time as
--"as acting deputy chief?

Yes.

And what kind of circumstance would he be

serving as acting deputy?

A

It would be when Deputy Chief Petersohn was

off'or unavailable. Also, Supervisor Manchester fills

t

in for that role as well. So it would be in the absence

of oﬁe of

Q

those two.

Would the deputy chief review the daily -- the

‘daily observation reports?

A There would be no reason to.
o] Okay. That would all stay within the training
: _
department?
!
[ A Yes.
[
3 Q So if Gardner was acting as the deputy chief,

you dén't

1

think there's any reason why he would come
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© . across any of the daily observationvréports‘or have the

need to see any of those?
A Correct.
Q  Or that they would routihely go to his

attention because he's serving in- that capacity?

A No,,not that I'm aware of.
R So I want you to think about since July of
2011, which was only, you know -- almost six months ago,

I guéss. Since that time, since that time frame,
Captéiﬁ Gardner -- would you have any dpinion as to
whetger Captain Gardner would be involved 'in the
traiﬁing program in any way, the field training, or
reviéwihg the daily observation reports on trainees?

:A Not that I'm aware of. The only instructor
certification that I.believe Captain Gardner holds is
tasef instructor. That's the only one that I'm aware
of. ] | .

Q Is that part of one of the trainings that the
tréin;es receive?

A At some point in time. I'm just not sure if
it's during their field tréi;ing segment[

Q . Okéy. So it ié poésible that he may have
proviéed that taser training to trainees during the
field%training?

é He could have, yes. .

l

17
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Q You never obsérved him give that training to
tﬁe field trainees?

A Not that I‘m aware of, no, I've never seen
him..

0 Did you ever hear any rumors about Captain
Gardher and Paige Winters being involved in some sort of
romantic'relatioﬁship?

A No. And lét me clarify. Not‘until an
anonymous letter arrived.

0 That was going to be my next question. I mean
obviously you know about it because we're here, but --

so what you're saying is, is that you never heard any

rumor about it or -- until the anonymous letter arrived?
A Not a single rumor.
0 Did you ever, prior to seeing -- prior to

seeing that anonymous letter or hearing of the anonymous
letter, because I donAt know whetﬁér you've seen it or
you've just heard of it --

A Both.

Q Both. Okay. Prior to that time, &id you ever
see tbem‘together outside of work in any type ;f social
setti%g?

No.

Obviously you've seen -- have ybu ever seen

eyt

them together at work?
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A I'm sure I have without even realizing it.

0 Anything that sticks in your memory as to

anything unusual about any time that you would have seen

theﬁ together at work?
iA No.

0 You‘vevprobably attended some social
gathérings where they're there as well as you're there?

“ A No.

Q Have ydu ever seen anything inappropriate --
or qgestionable. I don't like the word‘inappfopriate.
Anything that raised any question in your mind about
their interacﬁion with one anothér that led you‘to
beliéve that maybe they were in a romantic relationship?

EA No.

fQ And you first became aware tﬂét they may have

been in some sort of romantic relationship when you saw

the anonymous -- or heard of the anonymous letter?
A Correct.
‘Q Did you ever ask Captain Gardner whether he

had or was having a romantic_relationship_with Paige

Winters?
A No.
0 I'm going to ask you about Cara Gittner. Do

you know Cara Gittner?

A Yes.

19
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0 Now, she is also an employee of the
?depdrtment? |
: A Yes.
; 0 | And what 1s her position? Isishe a senior

lifeguard or --

A Senior lifeguafd, yes.

:Q Okay. And do you know how long she's been a

senior lifeqguard?

A Approximately two to three years.

}Q Would she alsoc have been inifially hired as a
lifeéuard?

‘A Yes.

;Q ~Most of the senior lifeguérds at one time were
lifeguards?A

fA Most.

Q What's your estimate of her age?

A Mid 20s, late 20s.
0 At some point she would have had to go ‘through

the same training to become a senior lifeguard that

‘Winters went through; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Okay. I'm gonna ask you just generally, I'm
f

not'gping to go through step by step, but do you know
!

whether or not Captain Gardner would have been involved

in her training in any respect?

20
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A I woulén‘t know.
Q Other than maybe he wouldvhave given ﬁhe taser
training then if it's given to the trainees?

: A That would be the only thing I could even
tﬁink would be possible; yes. |

'.Q At some time d;d you become suspicious that
Captain Gardner and Cara Gittner méy be involved in a
romantic relationship?

A I don't know ébéut romantic, but there was a
point where they wefe around‘each other quite a bit with
their drills, which is,.you know, swimming and .running
in the morning, which is not uncommon for many
lifeguards to do, but they were meeting aimost every
morniné to swim and run drill.

.Q Okay. So at th%t point she was a lifeguard or
seniér lifeguard?

B I.believe she was a senior lifeguard.

Q And Captain Gardner would have been still the

investigator?
A Yes.
Q But it's not uncommon for him, in his position

as an investigator, to drill --

A No.

O -- with and run with other life -- with the

senior lifeguards?

21
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A That woﬁld be correct. We all do.

Q  And if yoﬁ had any suspicions -- or that's
maybe too strong.a word‘—— aﬁy thoughts that maybe they
weré -- they had some sort of relationship, it would
have been just because of seeing them drilling together
and this type of thing?

A Yes.

%Q Anything else that you obsgrved‘of their
interaction that would -- that migﬁt have led you to
beliéve that maybe they were in a relationship?

A No. I've only seen them at work.

0 Okay. So you haven't socialized with them
togéther? You may have beén at some social function
when one of them was‘there, but you have nét seen them
to interact in a social relationship?

| _A I've never seen them in£eract in a social

relationship. The only time we may have been together

would have been the lifeguard banguet, and we weren't

together, by any means. I didn't sit with them and I

surely don't know if either one of them attended, to be

honest with you. But they both or either could have

been there, for all I know.
i

1 _ .
Q What level of supervision is there between

i
H

3

Gardner and you?

}

A He. reports directly to me.-

22
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Q Ané how many people do you have reporting
directly to you?
,i A I have‘the deputy chief, I have the beach
cobrdinator, Nancy Nolan, so I have --
" Q Nancy Nolan is somecne other than the beach

coordinator, -or is that --

A . Yeah, she's --
0 I'm counting people.
A - support services manager. The beach

coordinator is Supervisor Manchester.

Q Okay. So four or five, I guess?
‘A Yeah. 1It's an estimate. -
0 Does Captain Gardner report to you directly

beca?se he's the investigator?

A Yes.

EQ Were you the -- were yéu in your current
position before he became an investigator, or was he
inveétigafor before you became --

‘A I was in my position before.

Q Okay. Did you select him or --

A Yes.

Q And prior to that, -he would have been a
senigr -- a senior lifeguard --

]

|

ﬁ No. He would have been a lifeguard

[
SUpervisor.
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Q0 Lifeguard supervisor. Okay. At some time did -

relationship with Ms. Gittner?

A I did.

you have occasion to ask Captain Gardner if he was in a

Q And when do yoﬁ think that was, timewise?
<A This is a very rough guess. Somewhere between

six_?d %2 months ago.

>Q And where were you when you asked him?

A Myyoffice,. |

Ko} And as best you can tell me, what did you
him?

A I basically asked him if he was in an
inapprop:iate relationship or romantic relationship
Cara Gittner.

0 Okay. And what did he tell you?

A He was not. That they were just friends.

0] Did he elaborate at all on that, or we're
friéﬁds or =--

A He said that him and his wife éontinue --
éround Cara apd other people that are employed with
on a continual basis, thatlfhey‘re all friendsp.and
was‘éll there was to it.

%Q Was aﬁyohe else present when you had this

conversation with him, Captain Gardner?

A No.

;
1

ask

with

just

hang
us

that

24
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0 And you indicated that this was in your
office. Why was he in your éffice at that time?

A He's in my office evéry day giying meﬁdpdates
oh investigations. I speak to him en a daily basis.

o Sé he wasn't calléd in tﬁe office to ésk him
abbut‘thisé

A He may or may not have been. 'I don't recall.

Q Why did you ask him that questioﬁ?

A Because I knew they were hanging around a lot

‘together at drill and it was -- I don't want to say it

was uncommon, pbut it was enoﬁgh to say{ okay, I've got

LWO employees who one's male, one's female, they seem to

be méeting on a continual basié, every single day, to
swim and run. Considering what we've had gphcn the last

three years, I.thought it would be appropriate for me to

"ask him.

o) From a leadership position, what Wasfihe
importance of knowing the answer to that guestion?
A I think at the time it was very important for

me to understand what was géing on in the department as

far as relationships, no matter what, for the fact of

making sure the working-relationship was not'compromised
by g social :relationship.
§ Q0 - The working felationship'between the two of. :

theﬁ or the working relatioﬁship between all the
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officers?

A Anyone.

Q Okay.

A We have a -- not written policy, but i‘have a
standard rule that I do not allow_employees who are
datiné to work in the same zone.

0 So had he told you that he was -- and I'm not
saying that he was, but just theoretically, had‘he told
you that he was in a relationship with her, you would
have taken some sort of action, 1 guess?

A Absolutely.

Q And that would have Jjust been -- what would
that --

A Well, at the time, they weren't working

together, but I surely would have made my superiors

aware that there was a relationship occurring. But they.

were not working in the same zone at that time, that I'm
aware of.

‘ Q Do you believe he was honest with you when he
answered and told you that he was not in a relationship
with her?

A I do not know. I don't know if they were
seeing each other at that time frame or not.

jQ Have you since learned that they have at some

point in time been involved in a romantic relationship?

26
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A My understanding is they have had a romantic
relationship on and off since -- I would use a rough
date of 2009, from what I'm told.

Q When you asked him the question about him

‘being -- whether or not he was involved in a

relationship with ﬁer, did he offer‘the fact that he had
in the past been in a relationship with her or --

A He did not.

@) In asking the question that you asked him, if,
in fact, hé had been in a roﬁantic relationship with
her, but it had terminated, but he had been in one
months before, would you have expected him to have
volunteered that information to you?

A I would like to think anybody should b;
forthright, should volunteer the information if they're
especially in a supervisor level of that magnitude.

Q I'm juét curious as to -- énd you can just

tell me in your own words, if, you know, the way you

-asked the question, were you inviting him to tell you

more, or, I mean, was it just asked and then Jjust

~dropped? You know, what was your expectation from him

when‘you asked the question in how forthcoming he would
be?
A Well, obviously I can Monday morning

quarterback and realize I should have asked a different
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-quéstion. We learn from our mistakes, and vaill ask

different questions frbm.thisvpointAforward.
Unfortunately, I‘askedl was he iﬁ a romantic
;elatioﬁship, and I shoﬁld han gsked, havé youieve?
been'in a.fomantié relationship,,would havé‘beén @he‘

correct guestion to ask.

Q . Believe me,. I éha:e that same problem.
A Yeah.
Q i'vé got. a letter from, I gueés it's Captain

“Gardner's'attorney, which attributes some statements to

you. HaVe'you seen this letter?
A I'd have to review it to see.

Q I guess I'm going to read a little.bit from

:it,:then,l'll‘hand it to you, and you can look at it and

see if you understand what this is referring to.

I'm at the bottom of page nine, the paragraph

" that starts at the bottom of page-nine. It says, first

you state —- and this is -- this is a letter from

Gardner's attorney to Mike Coffin, so when he says you,

it would be Mike Coffin. First you state, quote,
MPuring the time that you‘weré involved with Officer

Gittner you were asked byaa supervisor whether you were

having an iﬁappropriate relationship with her, which you

-

‘denied, " end qUOté. ‘Then the attormey says that is

false. Although Director Sweat asked Captain Gardner
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about a year ago if he was involved in a relationship
wiph Officer Gittner, Sweat asked that question after
Captain Gardner and Officer Gittner had broken up.
Accordingly, Captain Gardner replied no. Captainl
Gardner's resﬁonse was trﬁe° If he had said yes, that
they were still in a relationship after they had broken
up, that would have been false. Thét’s the attorney
talking.

The letter goes on, it says, now, as you know,
the relationship subsequently resumed, but Director
Sweat did not thereafter ask again. Ihdeed, when
Captain Gardner read this liﬁe in the presence of
Director Sweat, while sitting in the passenger seat of
Sweat's vehicle at the south end of Sun Splash Park
after having been presented with your NOI, he had to
read it several times. While he was running his finger
under each time, Director Swéat spoke up and said, I
know, I had to read that three times, too. I told
you -- I told them you didn't lie to me, only that it
was misleading.

The way I read that, the line that he was-
putting his finger under mﬁst have been the line where
it says, quote, "During the time that you were invol&ed
with Officer Gittner yéu were asked by‘a supervisocr

whether you were having an inappropriate relationship
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.with her, which vyou denied, " end qﬁote. Do you want to

look at this?

A No, I'm ckay.

Q You're okay. Do you recall that conversation
in the -- in your car?
A Some of that conversation, yes.

o) ‘Okay. And what do you recall of the
conversation?

A I don't remember that particular line that he
was going over. I thought it was another line he wéas

going over in which it referred to Mr. Coffin.

0 Ckay.
A They were close in proximity, if I remember,
but T don't -~ I -- I didn't realize he was going over

the line in which.that statement was made.

0 Do you remember what the line that involved

‘Coffin stated?

A Not exactly. It was something to the effect

that he, I believe, falsely made a statement to

Mr. Coffin during an interview.

Q Okay. The next paragraph in this letter says,
Secondly, you state@, quote -- and again,bwhen he says
you stated, this would . be Coffin stating, I guess, in
the NOI. You stated, ﬁuote, "More recently, I," which

would be Coffin, "asked you whether there was anything
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in your background which could cause embarrassment to

the division, and you said no."

Could that -- is that -~ would that be thet

1iﬁe.that you thiﬁk‘he-attributed - | |
A  That‘s tﬁe line I thought;he was ru%n}né‘his
finger over time and time again/.and'my responée wés
different thgn‘what I reéall‘in there.
;'Q Okay. Let's'talk‘aboup tha% day‘then'or~thét

time. This wéuld have.been a conversation that involved
ééptain Gardner, youréelf, and Mr. Coffin?

A We're géing«back to the interview for the

 deputy chief's position?

Q0 Yes..
 A' Yes.
0 ° Because I think that's what this statement is

'talkiné about.

A >That’s whét I Eelievé it is, yes.

0 | Solthatvyas an interview for the deputy chief
positibn? |

A Yes.

Q’ Okay. And who would have been present for

that interview?
A Mr. Coffin, Mr. Gardner, and myself.
e And I'm assuming that was in somebody's

office?
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A My office.
Q Your office. What do you recall Mr. Coffin
asking Mr. Gardner, or Captain Gardner?

A My recollection of the conversation was --

amongst lots of things that were discussed about

salaries and other things, the question I specifically
remember being asked was, was Mr. Gardner gonna have hié
name come up in any way, shépe, or form in the Ashley
Drury lawsuit; whether he was going to be involved or
have knowledge that he should have shafed'with»us
involving Ashley Drury.

Q Okay. So yodr recollection is that it was --

the comment was specifically tied to .that lawsuit?

A Yes, sir.

Q Say that lawsuit again, the --

A Ashley Drury, D-r-u-r-y.

Q Is that -- are you being -- are you a

defendant in that suit?

A Yes, I am'béing personally sued as well as the
County.
Q And how certain are you of your recocllection

that that was the way the question was asked?
. A I'm fairly positive because he asked a very
similar question to Supervisor Petersohn at the same

time. They were both very similar questions within days
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of each other.

Q And he was the other peréoﬁ that was being

considered for the deputy --

A Yes. There was two.
Q  Okay. So as I understand it, you have --
you --— your testimony is that there was not a general

question about are there any skeletons in your closet.
that are going to come up to harm the department, it was
really tied to that pending lawsuit —-

A That particular day and that particular

interview I do not recall any other questions béing

'éSked that I remember.

0 You said that partiéular day and that

particular interview. Was there any other interview or

day that you were present where a broader question was.

aéked?

A No. I'm just nétvsure if Mr. Gardner and
Mr. Coffin had a conversation outside of my presénce;

Q On page ten of this letter there's a parégraph
in here, and I'm going to let you look at this because I
made an assumption, and I want to see ---just to make
sure you égree with me. Here's where he says, Second,
youﬁstate more recently I ésked you whether there was

i _

any%hing in your background which could cause

embarrassment to the division, this is at the interview
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for the deputy's position, and fhen I think down here
there's a paragraph that starts off, indeed, when
Captain Gardner read this line in the presence of
Director.Sweat, he stopped and said this isn’'t true.
Director Sweat said, quote, "I know it's not true, and
that is not the way I remember it either," end quoté.
Sweat said, quote, "I know" -- wait a second. I messed
that all up. 1It's hell getting old. I jumped a whole
line. 1I'll start over.

It says, indeed, when Captain Gardner read
this line in\the presence of Director Sweat, he stopped
and said, quote, "This isn't true," end guote. Director
Sweat said, "I know it's not true, and that is not the
way 1 remember it either,” end quoté. Captain Gardner
then reminded that you had asked if he, quote, "knew
about Simmons and Tameris," end quote. Director Sweat

said, guote, "I know." He then said, quote, "Don't go

‘telling people about this, you know I'11 be fired, but

if I have to, I will tell the truth about the
conversation -- that conversation under ocath,” end
guote.

Do you agree -- do you think -- do you agree
witg my assumption‘that this paragraph is talking about
thaé statement up there?

A Yes.

34
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e Do you recall having this conversationbdown
heré with Gardner?

A I.do not recalL saying every word,that he has
quéteézin there. My recollection of the exact quote
was, I understénd your concern, and all I can téll you
isvthat'l willﬂbe honest if asked.

0] Okay.  And you've already told us what °

“you've -- what your recollection of that conversatioﬁ -

or the statement was by‘Mr. Coffin or question by

Mr. Coffin?
A That's the Way I recall the questioh,.yes.
.QA You, atione point, asked Céptain Gardner

whether he was involved in a relationship --

ihappropriate rélationship,’and~then‘this second -~ the

guestion by Mike Coffin when you were there, you didn't

-speak it, but Mike Coffin asked, and you told us what he

‘said, which of those happened first in time?

A -You have to explain better. Which of what
"happened?
Q Okay. There's -— in the NOI thére's alleged

that he made two false statements; one involved the
statement where you asked him, are you involved in an
inappropriate relationship? The second one is where

they have the interview for the deputy poesition, and

-Mikéicoffinlasked him what Mike Coffin says he asked,

35
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which is different from what you remember the guestion
being asked. Do you know which of those occurreq:first
in time?

A I don't. I know -- I know Deputy Petersohn's
been in his position for approximately a year, so I
would think they were in close proximity, but I can't
remember which one occurred first.‘

0 Had the relationship between Gardner and
Gittnér rekindled before Coffin's question, would you
have expected Captain Gardner to have said anything to
you or to Coffin?

A Yes.

Q And —- about the fact that the relationship
had rekindled? |

A Yes. I think at a deputy chief's position
you'&e got to lay everything dn the table at that point
to me to make sure that -- I'm putting him in a position
of almost the highest position in tﬁe departmeﬁf,Aand
unfortunately, whether we liké it or ﬁot, any
relationships at that level would be inappropriate.

Q And at any time did he come to you and tell
you about that relationship?

A He did not.

0 After you had the conversation with him, with

Gardner, and asked him whether he was in a relationship
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with Gittner, did you see any difference in the way he,

Gardner, and Gittner interacted?

A No.
Q  still training the same way as before? -
A Yes.

o} Okay. I'm advised that'Officer Gittner has
test%fied that you asked her whether she was ih a .
rélationship with Captaih Gardner. Is that true,'or
what's ydur recollectioﬁ,op.that?

A I don't ever remember asking Gittner if she.
was in a relationship.: I femember speakiﬁg,to her in
general terms about reiationships and her career path
and things of that naturé, but I don't»rémember
specificélly asking her if she was in a relaﬁionship

with Gardner, I do not.

0 Okay. So I'm assuming she didn't tell you she

was in a relationship with-Gardner?

A She did not.-

0 What basically did you tell her about the.
néture of rélétionships and -~

A ‘She had -- she has expressed an interest

throughout her career, even at the very béginning, that
her desire was to work hef.way through the divisiqh and

be the director one day. And I explained to her that to

do that, it's difficult to have relationships of any
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sort tied to the department, whether they just be
friends or not, and I said I understand you and Richard
are very good friends, but potentiélly that could harm
you down ﬁhe road, because frieﬁdships are tough to
maintain if you're going to be the boss one day. So you
have to start thinking about those‘thingé and thinking

about how the perception is, because sometimes

perception is conceived as reality.

0 When you had this conversation with her did
yoﬁ suspect that she may be in a relationship with
Captain Gardner?

A No, other than just them being around each
other a lot for swimming and ruﬁning.

Q And this conversation with her,~wou1d that

have occurred prior or after the conversation you had

with Gardner, or in the same time frame?

A I'd like to say it was somewhere in the same
time frame. Fairly close.
0 Was Gittner transferred to the Daytona zone

from Dunlawton?

A Eventually, yes.

0 Where is Dunlawton?

A The Port Orangé area.. Dunlawton Bridge.

e, Okay. Who made the decision to transfer her?

A It's -- it's basically made. amongst
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sUper&isors, theﬁ it goes to the deputy chief, and then
if there's any complications, it comes to mel

Q Did hers come to you or --

A I don't recail,

g - Do you-know why she was transferréd, or is it
foutine, or what --

A Actually,'Mindy Greene and -- I believe this

is the reason. Mindy Greene and- Tom McGibeny advised me

tﬁét they were in a relationship tégether. They both
workéd in tﬁe Daytona zoﬁe, SO we needed to move>one of
them out of. there, and Tom requested - to go,ts Duﬁlawton,
and .Cara had requested to coﬁe’te Daytona, and thé
supervisors,agreed to that swap iﬁ>persénnel.

Q Okay. -So Gittner was transferred to Daytona‘
from Dunlawton to make room for McGibeny -

A Yes.

0 -~ to be transferred fhe other way aroind,
from Daytona to Dunla&fqn? |

A Yes.

Q Okay. Any particular reason why Gittner was
the one that was selectedito beitransferred as opposed

to someone else?

A It's done by request from the officer.
" Q So you think Gittner volunteered or requested?
A Yes.
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Q0  Is that -- is there any Qriting or any -- you
know, is'there like a request form, or is it just
vérbal? |

A I think it's verbal. BAnd some of them may
write a letter. I doﬁ't know if she did or not. 1It's
mostly verbal, though. |

0 'So it's basically if you have to make a
transfer like that, I wquldvassume what you would do is
you try to see if aﬁybédy wants to volunteer for the
transfer, as opposed to forcing somebody to transfer
that may not want to transfer?

A ‘That would be the goal.

Q Okay. Did Rich Gérdner have any input at all
in the decision.for Gittner to be transferredé

A Not to me, unless he did it behind the scenes,

but he never spoke that to me.

Q Did he ever express to you any kind of opinion

as to whether that transfer was appropriate, not
appropriate, he was happy with the transfer, not happy
with it, or --

A The only thing he ever expressed to me, that
he §espected her work and thouéht she was very diligent
andiher skills on the computer and other things, and
thaﬁ he thought she was an extremely talented officer.

T Q Okay. So he wasn't upset by the transfer or

40
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particularly happy with the transfer?

A He didn't seem either way to me.

0 Do you know whether Gardner has ever been a
direct supervisor of Gittner in any poéition?

A The only time I can ~-- I know of, and I .--
it's not direct, is when he's a deputy chief he oversees
the whple department, ébviously, for that day, but I
guess there would be a supervisor‘in between him and
wherever Cara was working. And I'm not sure if there's
any special details that I'm not aware of.

Q Because he's an investigator, so then who
s —— who 1s he -- who does he supervise as an
investigator? Does he supervise anyone?

A No.

Q Okay. Unleés he needs help énd you assign
somebody?

A If he ﬁeeds help, vyes.

Q Okay. Do you.recall anytime that he may have
worked overtime as a zone captain?

A He could have, vyes.

Q And if he did that and she was in that zone
working at the same time, then he could have been a
supervisor of hers?

jA Yes.

P Q Do you know whether that ever occurred or...

i
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f A I would have no idea.
0 I guess there would be records that would éhow '
fhaé?
; A Yés. There:are séhedules.
: o) Do yoé recall Whether she ever worked any

plainclothes assignments that were directed or
supérvised by Captain Gardner? .

LA She may-have, but f'm not aware of them. He

.hadgdifferent officers help him at different times, so

,sﬁefvery,well hay have. I just am not aware of them.

; 0 If he needed help for some investigation he
was idoing, how would he get- the personnel to do that?

A It depends on what. he needed. Sometimes he

,WOuld go to the deputy~chief and say,‘I»need someone‘

i

assighed_to me. Sometimes he could just call in a zone

" and 'say, hey, could you do some computer stuff for me

while you're sitting in your’ zone? There's all kinds of

‘ways. If he needed someone actually assigned to him,

norﬁally he would go- to the deputy chief, though, and
aské \
.0 Okay. So the -- so Gardner —- the deputy

. i .
chi€f -- and there's one layer of supervision between
¢ s - -

rtheideputy chief and Gardner{ correct?

S |ae
{ A Well, the deputy chief -- ..
| . :

Q. Not Gdrdner. I'm sorry. You've got the-
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deputy chief and then I'm looking at Gittner. There's

one -- there's one level of supervision betﬁeén the two
of them?

A Yes, lifeguard supervisor.‘

o) Lifeguard supérvisor. Okay. Sc he wouldn't

go to the lifeguard supervisor to say I need her
assistance; he'd go to the deputy chief or --
A He would normally go through the deputy chief.

Q Okayf

A He may have went to one of the supervisors,
but‘normally -- the deputy chief oversees scheduling, so

they un&erstand the personngl and what they've got
available and not.available for the day.

0] But if Gardner needed assistance, he would ask
for the assistance, and,ﬁe could éither ask for é person
by ﬁame or he could just say, I need socmebody, and the
deputy chief would give him somebody?

A True.

0 Are you aware of any details that they worked
on together?

A . No. I don't see who's working details. 'So
theg may have, théy may not have. I don't know.

; Q I'm going to ask a dumb éuestion, but I'm not
i
eve% sure what detail is.

" A It's basically -- I'll use the example. Most
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of dur detalls are done at the parking garage that’é

~owned by the county. It's afterhours. . They pay'fheir

wages, but they work under the authority of the Division

of Beach Saféfy as a.léw enforcement officer to'provide

secérity for the garage;
f Q  And who pays the wages? It's a»county garage?
i A Yeé. The.ocean_éenterxéays‘fhe wages.. |
o okay. 'So it's like hiring off-duty police

officers to do a security detail?

A Ccr#ect,
1 Q  Okay-
sz Aﬂd'officers.VOlunteer‘fdr the.detailf
; Q.' And so —o'agdythen who assigns.th;m to the
detéil? is there like a -- you vo;qﬁteer,zéndvfﬁen
it'§ -- there's some equitable wafﬁtd‘make suie that one

pergon doesn't alWays get £he.detail? -
é{A The scheduling person.monifbfs it.’
i Q And the'scheduling person is?
é A Could be vafiogs_peqple. 'It.coﬁld 5¢ Liz'
Johdson or it could be»ChriS‘Atkihsoﬁ, or 5ne'0é{t5§
fill-ins. |

; Q Now, when ydu“ré 5n a detéil and there‘é two
or three, I'"11 call theﬁ officers on the dEtail,'db théy
stilll recognize some sort of chéin‘of authority améné

1
{
them?
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A I've never worked a detail, but I'm assuming
if you're a supervisor, you're a supervisor. You don't
lose your rank because you're working a detail; you're
stiil a supervisor.

0 So theoretically if Gardner and Gittner were
working é detail, he may be her supervisor at that
detéil -- on that detail? |

A I think you're -~ I think if you're a
supervisor; you're a supervisor seven déys a week, 24
hours a day. I don't think because you work a detail
you lose your supervisor rank. Now, what occurs in the
parking garage, I'm not sure.of, because their
assignments are given by the person who oversees the
parkinglgarage on what they would like them to do
throughout the night. So I'm nét sure what role théy
would have together if they worked together.

. Q I've been advised that th;re's an allegation
that Gardner nominated Gittner for Officer of the Year
in 2010. Do you know wﬁether that's true or not? Or do
you know if she -- first of all, do you know if she was
nominaged for Cfficer of the Year in 2010?'

T A She may have. I don't know. I'd have to go
bac% and look. I know she has been nominated in the
pasg. I'm not aware that Officer Gardner nominated her

because normally it's done by a zone captain.
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Q  How does that nomination process work? They
fill cut some sort of form to nominate somebody, or what

do they do?

A They have to write -- their criteria for

nominating someone is normally done within the zone.

Captain Gardner does not have a nomination because he's
an investigator- So in other words, I mean he could
make a récbmmendation to a zone, for sure, and I don't
kno% if he'dié that or not. But the supervisors of the
zéné,would make their nomination frém their zone. And
that’s done by various ways. Sometimes they let the
officers vote on who they{d like to see nominated and
theﬁ.they bring that to the final méeting, and that's
how it works.

0 | Is theré any documents that would show who was
nominated fof 2010 and -- or -- it's not all verbally
doné? I mean, there's somerQriting that séys that this

zone has nominated this officer, this zone has nominated

this officer?

A The final nominations would be on the banquet

.program. Their nomination is the one that gets on the

program. So if they were nominated, they would be on
the %rogram‘

| Q They would be on the banguet program?

A Correct. And who nominated them.
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i

i f‘Q ékay. But the way"” they re acrually nomlnated
it oould be verbal? I'm just wonderlng 1f there s a
report, where somebody frlls out a report that says -
; A It's not a report.
z.Q | — this zone hominated -- nominates 50 and’so?
‘f A They would have a.sheet of paper that would

talk about thelr strengths throughout the year and

thrngs they've done, correct. That would have been read

out loud.

©Q  Yeah. ‘Otherwise, how do you vote on them?

i A Correct. S )

? 0 If -~ pesides7rhe banquet.menu or»wherever -~
Aproéram,'would you hare - or the'depertment have the

[

narrative that'mentioﬁs the strengths of the person
nomrnated -=

A No, they didn't submit it.

| 0 -- maintained?
DA They don't submit it. So, no, we wouldn't
have -~ the individual supervisor mey have kept récords

N

of rt, but we wouldn't haﬁe records of them; rhat.I'm
aware of.

é Q- At the banguet, are those .-~ are those
naréatives read?

’ . .

% A No.

! 0 - Who decides?
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A It's voted én.

Q Among?

A Secret ballot.

Q Bmong all_~—

A All the supervisors.

0 Okay. Do you have any kﬁowledge that Captain
Gardner -- whether Capta%n Gardner had any input at all
regarding Gittner's nomination for Officer of the Year
in 20107 |

A He may have. I don'tuknow. i don‘i remember
if he spoke or nqt spoke, honestly.

Q Do you have any knowledge as to whether
Captéin Gardner recommended Officer Gittner for a
commendation in 2003? |

A Oh, he CQuld have very easily.\ He's alloﬁed
to make recommendations, so, yes, he could have.

0 Would there be -- would that be a permanent
record somepléce, the recommendation?

A T would think so.

Q If you were looking for it, where would you
look?

; A Gosh. I would probably start‘with emails, but
we Qave a nominétions committee that I would probably go
to,fand they keep a file. Actually, let me rephrase

that. It's an awards committee.

bt s S
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0 So as the supervisor of investigation, Gardner

doesn't really have a senior lifeguard that works in

investigations with him?

A. Not on a regular basis. You know, he may have
someone assigned to him for a day, or a couple weeks, or

whatever the caseload may be, but not --

Q . There's no full-time --
A There's no full-time, no.
0 And you've already talked to the process in

which he would request that type of help?
| A Yes.

0 And so it's not your position or your Jjob to
detérmineywho is going to ﬁrovide him that help in
investigations; that's the deputy’'s? |

A I mean, I may have input in it if it's brought

up in my presence, sure.

-0 Okay.
" A I could have input in the decision,
absolutely.

0 Would you normally be brought into it to give
input?
A ‘ Not always. It's hit or miss. You know, if
theédeputy chief wasn't around, it would not be uncommon
|
for thim to walk in and ask me.

e Okay. Do you recall a time when Gittner was
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assigned as assistant to Gardner for one of these
details -- not details -- for an investigation?

A I don't recall a time. I know she's assisted

~ him in some things with computers and running some

records and things like that, but I don't -- I don't --
I dqn't know if she?s ever been assigned to him} that
I'm aware of. But she could ha&e been.

| Q Who is Kyle McDaniel?

A He was an employee of ocurs. He's now
currently with the’sheriff's department, and he was one
of ﬁhoge officers who assisted Mr. Gardner at times.

CQ But he then -- he didn't -- he wasn't
appointed to the position where he was a full-time
assiéfant to -~

. A Not always. I mean ét times ~-- if the
caseload dictated, he may have been there for three or
four, months, but, yeah, so he could have been there
for —- but we didn’'t really -- we didn't have a
full-time position that served all the tiﬁe. I think
the_last person to do that was Pat Casey, who was
assigned there pretty much primarily'as Rich's
assistant. But since that time, it's been various
people coming through.

;Q But sometimes the assignments are for lengthy

periods of time?
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i 0 Kyle McDanie}, was he selected for more than
one}investigation, or was he.selected becapse there was
one :lengthy inVésti§ation?‘
| | A. No, I!tﬁink he hélpea on many inﬁestigafipms,
notfjust one. :The£e Qés'many of them that he assisted
witﬁ.

'é 0 | Have’you‘ever héd any discussion with Gittnei

abo@t her applying to be an investigator or work with

3

‘Gardner'in the.investigafion,department?

%-A I dog't know if I've had Qiscussions with her,
but I knéQ.hér desifevwas to be an investigatof one day.

0 Did she ever-ask ybﬁ to.éonéider her-fér the
app@intment oﬁ the assigriment és an éssistantjto - or -
assister for Gardnér? -

; A ~She may have. Ldtsvof peoplé have.
fQ Did Gardner ever,éome to you aﬁd ask‘that

i

Gittner be made an assistant for him?

;A And he ‘may haVe’aé well,,yeéﬂ He may have —--

he's asked for so many pecpile, it's hard to remember who
he'sﬁasked for, but Cara could have been one of them,
and I know he's asked to do -~ 1 know she's done some

computer stuff, ran some names and tracked some stuff
| ' .

H
|
i
i
{

don'lt know if she's ever been cofficially assigned to

down, for him at times, so I know he's used her. I just

|

!

}
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where she showed up in his office and worked under him
all day. I'm not sure. But the schedule would dictate
that. If it's there, the schedule would séy that's what
she served as. )

0 Are you familiar with an employee performance
notice given to Gittner in October of 2011 for failure

to attend a mandatory station meeting?

A No.

Q An employee performance notice, is that --

what is that? That's a -— it's a written document to
the employee? |

A Yes. It's a personnel form that's
standardized that has a bunch of check boxes that you
would write someone for not attending a meeting. Lots
of things.

0 And does the officer then sign thét, the

officer who the report is about --

A Yes.
; Q ~- is asked to sign it?
A Yes.
0 Okay. Did you -- were you ever told that

Gittner had refused to sign one of these employee
perfiormance notices?
A No.

Q Have you ever seen  firsthand or heard through
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apy rumor that Gardner intimidates dthé; employees?
: :A No. I mean he's 6'4", 240 poundé; I think
hefs‘iptimidating enough.i |
iQ In.one of the anonymoﬁs.letters; which are
A veryésimilar, thére was an éilegatioﬁ that senio:'
lifebuaﬁd Andy Ethridge'—~ there.areiéllegatiéné about

senior lifeguard Andy Ethridge{ Do yéu know Andy

Ethridge?
‘A Yes.
" And the allegations regard his prior criminal

i . : . i .
history. And apparently there was an Internal Affairs

inveétigatios in 2002 foliowind his second arrest for
domeétic battery. Are you familiar with that? Do 0
you == |
A ;A Somewhat.

0 Okay. And my undersfanding‘is that resulted -

in his‘demoﬁion to lifeguard. So he would have been

demofed from senior lifeguard to lifegquard -- or ——
jA To beach safety specialist, I believe.
EQ Beach safety specialist to liféguard?
| .
jA Senior lifeguard to beach safety specialist.
;Q And then I understand ~-- that was in 2002€

Thenil understand he was promoted to senior lifeguard . in

. .
2006? Do you recall him being promoted to senior

i

lifeéuard?

i
:

3
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A Other than I know he was prbmoted to senior
lifeguard, vyes.

Q Okay. It's béen alleged that it is known
among employees in the department and supervisors th;t
Ethridge consistently becomes possessive of female

employees. Have you heard that rumor or heard that

complaint?
A No.
0 Have you ever observed anything like that?
A No.
Q It's also been alieged that Ethridge has been

known to have sexual relations, while on and off duty,
with female employées. Have you ever heard that rumor,
allegation --

A Never.

0 And you have no firsthand knowledge of that

having happened?

[

A None.

0 Have you ever seen any -- have you ever seen
any activity of his that would either believe you --,
would lead you to believe that either of‘these two
allegations are true, the one allegation being that he

| :
becomes possessive of female employees, the second
3

| .
allegation being that he has had sexual relations, on

and off duty, with female employees?
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A Never.

j Q Never saw anything thatfwouid makeiyau suspect
thag? |

; A 4No. o

- Q  There's an allegation in the anoﬁyégﬁé letfer

thé§ retired Captain Dave Williams‘was, qﬁote,-kn@wn'to
ﬁavé younger giris take éhowers'with him a£’the Ormond
Beach lifeguard station while on_duty'after morning
driils, and that that Qés broﬁght to your attention. Do

youjknow anything about that allegétion§

S~A ‘ If‘s a commoﬁ shower place in Ormond, and,
yes, they -- after drill, everybody went and showered,
but ‘it was an open shower. It's not a -- it's:not a

one-on-one shower where you go in and shéwer. - It's five
i ‘ ‘ , -

shoWér heads, . or whatever it is, and everybody .showers

thétheﬁ.
5 Q ‘The males an& ﬁhé feméles shower toéether?
. A Yes.
'z 0 And the senior iifeguards'énd the lifeguar@é?

- A Yes. And I think théyfve recently.changed the

policy to try to get a little more organized to where --
but I believe they try to let the femalés go first and
theé the males go first, but it's an open showe;.'

I

% 0 Because the -- some ¢f the lifeguards would

be {- they're part-time employees, and scme of them afe
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‘undér the age of 18; isAthat -

Q A Some of them are.

f Q- Do you know how long that practice was going '

Qn,:the one shower and -everybody would go in and take a

shower at the same time?

A Since the station's been built, .in the '40s

maybe.7 However long that statibn‘s been there, that's

what's been happening.

) aAnd you indicéte you think theré's‘recehtly

been a change -in that?

:4A -Yes. I believe the supervisor up there has

implemented a change in which they try to regulate who

goés in first, who-goes in second.

j_-QA And this is something that basically everybody
in the department knew about?
;_A Everybody's clothed'¥—~yes, they all -- it

hapéenedgin every -- they shower, they use hoses, they

. shower outside. It's a}common practice.- They're

1

liféguards. They're fully.clothéd. They're -in their

work uniform. ¢

3

o) Okay. They're in their bathing suit?
: A Absolutely.

? Q Okay. I don't think this allegation in the.
l _ :

"ano%ymous letter is suggesting that they're in their.

bathing suits, and so -- but what you're telling me is
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there's a -- that wheh_they shower, it's a common

shower, and eVerybody‘s got their bathing suit on in the

shower?

A Yes. And it's open.

Q They're not naked?

Pt Yeah. You couldn't close it off if you wanted
to.. You can't even -- there's not even a door to close

to it. It's in the building, and there’s‘no way to
close 1t off; It's open.

Q Let's go back then, because I think the
allegation in the anonymous letter is not that everybody
showers in their bathing suits together, it's .that |
Céptain Dave Williams would have these younger girls, I
guess tﬁe lifeguards, shower with him with no clothes on
in the shower in-the Ormond Beach lifeguard station.

A No.

. Q Okay. You know notﬁing about that, have not
heard that?

CA No one's ever reported that, no cne's ever

said that to me.

Q It's also alleged that Dave Williams, captain
retired, would drink ¢n his boat with underage
, _
i
lifebuards. Have you heard that? Do you know anything

abou¢ that?
{

@A No one has ever reported that to me.
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E Q When did he retire?

f A It's a guess. Maybe last October. That's a
gﬁeés maybe. |

:_Q Do you know whether'therefwéé-anythings—~
whégher he was a;ked to retire, whether ﬁé retired
abrﬁptly, whether this was a blanned retirement that he

had ‘planned for years? Do you know‘anything about the

circumstances of his retirement?

A My understandihg is it was planned.- It was a
little sooner than expected from him because his.
inVQétment plan did much better ﬁhan he expected. But

he told me as soon as he had "X amount. of dollars, he'd

bevﬁetiring, so he got to"that‘fééter than even what he

thought he'd get to it.
CQ When did he retire?
A Last year, in October..

; Q He did a lot better than most péople are

f A My understanding, he did very well.
. Q  Okay. So then you don't know of anything that
wasisuspiqioﬁs about the timing of his retirement --

LA No.

} Q -- that he knew that there weré allegations
i
L

about him, and so he better retire, or anything -

A There was no allegations, to my knowledge,

|
|
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about Captain Williams ever.
0 And I'm just saying that because of the
anonymous letter.

A 'Sﬁre.

-0 There's an Officer Texter?
. A Yes.
0 There's an allegation, I guess, in the

~anonymous letter again that Officer Texter haS‘méde

lina@propriate'commehts towards‘§ir1$;' And 1 think there

was.an investigation, internal investigation, done about

.somé comment he might have made to someone. ' Are you

familiar with whether.or not there was ever any
invéstigation of an inappropriate comment he made?
A There was an investigation about an

inappropriate joke he made in a- restaurant in which a

female customer overheard the comment.

Q . Okay. And can you tell me what the comment
Wésg just so I can see if it's what was in the anonymous
letter?

A I'd have to go back, bﬁt it was something

_ about -- it was a sexual comment. I don't remember it

verbatim. I know they were .in a pizza place.

e In the anonymous letter it says there was also

another complaint about Cfficer Texter regarding a
!

} :

comment -made to a female along the lines of, quote, "Do
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- I make you wet," end gquote, and Kevin -- they're talking

@bbdt you —-- explained how'the investigating off;éer
should handle it in the-absence of Captain Gardner. Is
tha€ the one we're talkﬁng abouf?A |
‘A It would have been?,but I think Internal
Afféirs haﬁdledithat call, so I surely woﬁ;dn‘t'l— I

surély wouldn't tell Internal Affairs how to handle the

investigation.

CQ Was there some other comment that was made at
some point where Internal Affairs wasn't involved and

you,. quote, explained how.the -- whoever was

investigating should.handleAit‘iﬁ the absence of Captain

Gardner? Meaping,vl guess Captain Ga;dner,wouldn't have
beeé there, so Captain'Gardﬁér m;ght.have.norﬁally
looked into it or handled it without neégssarily
involving Internal Affairs. |

énA Not that I'm aWareieff The only‘othéi - f
know -- there was another cOmplaidt lodged against
Officer Texter, and I'm not-su#e if it was done by 1A or
intérnélly, but it turned out to be nothing. ‘And it -
wasﬁft about any comment he made, no.

[

- Q- Okay. So you{ré right. Looking further at

this, you know, the one that the internal investigations
{ ) .

E .
]
handled was in a restaurant, so that's --

j A Yes.
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Q - prqbably the thing that you were replying.

So are you aware of any other inappropriate

' comments that he might have made other than that one in

the;restaurant -—

A No.

0 -= for which he was dis;iplined?

A Correct. That'sAthe only comment that I'm --
thaé I'm aware of that he made. There was anotherr
allégétion when he backed up at the sheriff's office on
a call, but that was looked into, and the duy said he
had;been to his house, and we,pulléd records, and he had
ne&%ibeen to that house on a call in his life;

;'Q Now, this letter says there was another

com@laint, and I'm not sure what the first one was, but

: there was another complaint about Officer Texter

reference a comment made to a female along the lines of,

do I make you wet, and Kevin, quote, "explained," end

quote, how the investigating officer should handle it in

the absence of Captain Gardner. Do you havevany idea

‘what they're even referring to in that?

A No. To me,-it‘é the same complaiht.from the

restaurant. There was never a second allegation. made

v

thaﬁ he made that statement to anybody else, that I'm
: .
| .

aware of.

o So you think that's referring to the comment -
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in the restaurant that was handled by ~-

3 A Investigations. 1n.
Q  Okay. |
’ A Yes.
o And the statement in herejthat Kevin, quote,

"exéiained,” end quote, how the ihVestigéting officer
would handle i£ in thé,absence of Captéin Garaper, you
ﬁave no idea what that is referring to or -

A No. I mean, I wquldn't éireét‘IA ever, but if
I was sendiﬁg someone else-to look into a coﬁplaint, I |
wcuid always look at.the‘specific'quesiions that we're
goiﬁg to ask to make éure that we Qeré getting the

information-we needed.  But I don't do that with IA

‘ever. IA does their owr thing; and I don't .see the

guestions.

Q It's also alleged that Texter -drives around

o . L - . : .
with a bag binder with Polarcid pictures of girls’

breasts and other sexual positions thatJhe took with a
couéty—issued camera, end guote, and thét's a known
facﬁ. Do you know anything about that éllegation?

; A No, not known to me. I ;aﬁ surely go back and
looé, though.

é 0 Okay. Tﬁere‘sAa Q¢neral allegation that there
areiofficers who show —4tho, quote, "show up with

strong odors of alcohol on their breath and in their

|
|
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system while carrying a gun," end qubté, and that this
is é known fact, quote, "among fellow employees, his
supérﬁisors, and all the way up to Kevin," end guote.

Do you have any’officers'who come to work with
alcéhol on their breath, to your knowledge?

A If they do, they are sent home. I don't
drink, I don't smoke, and I don't tolerate it, period.

9] Do you have some that do get sent home for
that?

A I'mnot -- I don't recall of any being sent
homé, but I'm nqt saying it's never happened since I've
been in charge. It may have, but it's not common, I can
teli you that.

Q In the sprirg of 2011 apparently there was a
proﬁotional examination given for the position of
cap%ain. Was Captain Gafdner involved in any part in
thaﬁ examination process? |

A I'd have to go back and review, but I don't
believe éo.

0 Are you aware that someone told’Gardnef the
schedule for the oral interview of the applicants?

A I'm not aware.

; Q Are those -- the times for the schedule for

th% oral interviews, the times each of the different

i

éaﬁdidates, I guess, will appear for their'oral
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int%rviews, is that supposed to be_Cbnfidehtiai énd'held
inﬁormatiqﬁtsolthat thé interviewées don't knowhwho's
goﬁng in at what time and --

3 A I wouldn't know. I don't set the interviews,
50?1 wouldn't know.‘ It‘would be a personnel.qqestion.
Us@ally personnel an@,Néﬁcyvhéndles that. -

0 If you Were.dpiﬁgfthét,\would you keep that
coﬁfidential? Would yéu see a need to not have that
geﬁéral knowledge; the gchédule,of the interviews?

A I guessAthinking_ﬁhroughAit, the only reason I

could see why there would be any importance to it is to

mage sﬁre they didn't,share guestions --

0 Right. |

A -- is the dﬁiy thiﬁg‘l can think of.: So --
bu€ like I said, persongel'and Nancy-Would know if
th%t's kept confidential or not. I don't knowf

?- 0 Did Captain Gardnei ever discuss with you aﬁy

conicerns that he may héve had'ébout‘the fact that Tom
McGibeny and Mindy Gréene were in a feiatiqnship,-and I

gueés they were both involved in the promotion to

.captain and would be .interviewed, and ﬁhat_théy may

givie -~ one may give the interview guestions to the

otﬁer if they knew the --
1 ' .
PA It may have came from either -- either Captain

'
¢

_ Gardner or it may have came from Andy Ethridge, but I

i
i
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know'one of the two made me aware that there was some
concern about them sharing questions.

Q Do you know what, if anything, was déne fo -~
becéUSe of that concern?

A I know I reported it to personnel, and we
spoke to -- I believe we spoke to everyone infol&ed, and

there was no proof that that had ever occurred, and the

&l

persdn that made the allegation didn't have any proof

that that had océurred.

Q Who made the allegation?
A I believe it was Mr. Ethridge.
0 I understand that McGibeny was interviewed

first. Did you know or have you been made aware that
Ethridge confronted McGibeny before the interviews?

A My understanding is that ves, I was aware
the&e was an altercation between the two.

Q | Tell me what you know about that .

A My understanding is just that Ethridge had
made a comment to McGibeny that you better not give
Mindy the questions, and I think Tom made some sarcastic
re@ark like -- and I forget the exact wording was, well,
that's the only reason why I'm taking the interviéw,
beéause I don't really care about the promotion, or
something, but that was -- he later .said it was a wise

crack, not to be taken seriously.
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L Q Now, was Ethridge also in line for a promotion

. to taptain or --

A Yes.

Q Okay; So he's alsb'going to be ihterviéwed.
andgasked the same questions?

A Yes. |

0 When did you hear about this confrontation

~ between Ethridge and McGibény?'

i A It woqldahavé beéh.beere the interview
sta%ted. I don't kngw a date, though.. |
| o) Did you take anyﬂaction'as a result of fh;t“
or =-

CA I called persoﬁnei and asked them what'they
Qouid like me to do with.it and théy said to speak to
theﬁ and see 1f there's anything to it and glve us a
rep@rt back verbally, and I dld that, and they saild, you
know, I don't think there's any proof.of anythlng that

occurred and ~- or is going to occur, and.

0 Okay. Did you talk to Mindy at all prior to

the!interview?

pat I may have. I believe I did.
- Q ‘What do you recall having talked to her about?
| A It would have been the same line of

questlonlng about that the questlons are confldentwal

and‘they can't be shared amongst candldates And I

i
t
{
i
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think I let her know that there was an allegation made
that there wés concern that that may. occur since~her and
Mr,:McGibeny were dating;

| 0 Do you know how Ethridge learned of the oral
intérview schedule?

| A I do not.

Q So you don't know whether Gardner gave the
ora;‘interview schedule to Ethridge or noct?

| A I do not.

Qo Weil, everybody would have known everybody
else was getting interviewed, correct?

A Honestly, they probably told each other.

Q Right. You're coming at 1:00, you're coming
at é:OO? |

A Well, they don't tell them in.front of each
other, but they talk amongst each other.

Q Sure. If McGibeny and Mindy Greene were both
goéng to be interviewed.and they're .in a relationship
wiﬁh each other, it would méke sense that they may say,
weil, I'm gping in at 10:00 and the other one says I'm
going in at 1:00 between the two of them?

; A I would believe that would be a fairly
acéurate assumption.

0 Apparently within the past year you had this

i

vaéant deputy chief position?

;
i
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. A Yes.
Q Okay. Did the deputy chief resign or retire?
A He retired:

~

. Q Retired? Okay,” Wha£-WéS‘th¢ selection
prééess for his replacement? .

sg'A They madéT&n advértisemeﬁt-nationwide,'théy
tooﬁ applicatioﬁs, we‘;evieweé3thosé applicatioﬁs,
Mf.fRyan,~Mr. Coffin, aﬁd-myself, and I believe S the

name doesn't come to me, a lady from personnel{ it will

come to me. Anyway, we: reviewed those applications,

" narrowed the list'dGWn to-fiveg and then set up

intérviews.

j‘Qv And ﬁhe interviews; that.£akes us to Rich
Garéner, he was one Qf‘the fivé?

5 A Yeé.

Q And we talked before about his interview with

Mr. ~Coffin?

A That was secondary.
o] Oh. There was another interview?
; A The first interview occurred with Mr. Ryan,

mys§lf, and Ramona Jackson, which was the name I was

try%ng to think of.

i
¢

intgrviewed the first --
1

A " Five.

Q And so you interviewed -- that group of people

68
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P Q ~- five?

And then did all five of them make the cut to

the second interview, or did you narrow the field?

i

-

A ‘We narrowed it down to two.

Q Down fo two. Okéy. And I. understand Scott

Petersohn --
; A Yes.
. 0 -- was the person selected?
g A Yes.
E,Q Was he from within the department or:¥~
A Yes. o

e} ~- Oor. was he outside?

And so the two that you weould have narrowed it

down to would haveé been Petersohn and Gardner?

A Yes.,

Q And then they were both interviewed by

Mr. Coffin?

i

l

A Yes. Interview is a loose term. He asked

them guestions.

Q When you all did the first interview bf five,

didéyou basically ask everybody the same questions oxr --

the

A | Yes.
Q . And how were the questions selected? Did --
A I believe personnel Ramona Jackson provided

questions from similar interviews they have done-

69
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thrbughout‘the county.

Q Okay. And then after you had completed the
rouhd of five interviews, you all cauéused, I guess, and
decided who you thought were the two best candidates?

A Yes. We used a scoring matrix.

0 The scoring matrix is a document that you then
would have turned back in to personnel?

A Persconnel would have them, I'm assuming.

Q In the scoringxmatrix were there any places to
put.comments or notes or things like that?

A There may have been.

0 And so personnel should have those?

,: A They should.

Q Theh you move on to the second round. Now,
did .you ask any questions in that second round when it
was you‘and Coffin and the --

A I don't think so.

- Q -- two individuals; cne at a time, obviously?

f A I don't think so.

e But Directof Céffin asked questions?
A Yes.
.0 How long did those interviews take, about?
C A Twenty, 30 minutes, at thé most.
i Q Did you take any notes on thosé interviews

or -~
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A No.

0 -- was there a scoring form or anything’like

i

-that for those?

A No.
- Q Do you know whether Director Coffin took any
notés?

A I don't believe he did.

0 Were the questions basically the.same to both

~candidates, or were --

A Yes.
; Q -— they different?
Do you remember any gquestions agkéd by_Coffin
thaé were intended to elicit any nega£ive infbrmatioﬁ

with regards to either of the candidates,

embarrassing --
? A The Drury case was the‘pne that
speéifically -~ it was mostly abou£ sélaries and duties,

éndéthe_Druryaquestion is the one that poés out at me
aboét.

| 0 You don't remember him asking any gind of Vefy
genéﬁal_and broad gquestion --

? A I'don’t.. |

% Q So basica;ly what I'm understanding from you
is ghat he really only asked one queétion with regafds

to the -- to those cases as well?

.
i
|
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A Yes. That's my recollection, yes.

0 | And no general or broad question with regards
to any skeletons in your closet that may jump out and
bite us in the future?

A I don't recall that question being asked;

Q I don't mean that specific one, but I mean of

that nature.

A No, I don't remember.
Q Could he have asked something like that?
A He may have.

0 But you don't recall?

A I don‘t recall - the question, no.

Q Obviously there's —-- you don't recall any
ansﬁer that would have put Mr. -- is it Mr. or Director?

A Director. | |

0 Director Coffin on edge or af alert?

A No. Primarily -= the bulk of the conversation

was .almost more about salaries.

' o] I'm sdrry, it's'going to take me a second to

‘read this. I'm back to Captain Gardner's letter, and at

the bottom of page two there's a footnote that starts
down here where my finger is, footnote number three
staﬁts off on October 13.

A Okay.

P Q And when you read that, there's two lines on
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the bottom of page two, then you have to jump over to
here --

A Okay.

0 -- where it completes. Wduld you read that

‘footnote, and then I want to ask you some questions

about it, or get your overall sense as to --

! A Do I have to read it for the record, or just .
‘to myself?
Q You -can just read it to yourself. Let me tell

yougthe question I'm going to ask you so’that you'll
have that in mind when you're 'reading it.

f A Okay.

i Q And my questién, is that an accuraté
repﬁeséntation of your conversation with Captain
Gardner? So, you know, as yoh‘re iookiﬁg thirough 1it, if
youésee anything that you don't tﬁiﬁk is accﬁ;ate,'you
can;Q—

. A I mean not verbatim. There's some general

~‘alle{gations here that are accurate, and I can go through'

them if you'd like.
S0 Ckay.

A It's.up to you.

Q Why don't you.

A Obviously it was -- it was an emotional time

for |[both of us when you're firing'a'27—year employee,

i
I
!
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so, yes, I was upset, that's accurate. I did state that
they intended to dismiss him, and that his decision to
retire would have to come before 5:00, and nét one
minpte later. That's what Mr. Coffin told me to tell
him.

He did ask who had made the decisioprland I
replied that I was told it didn't matter who made the
decision; that it was made.

I don't remember 1f he said you;vé got ﬁo be
kidding me. I have no idea if that's acctrate or not.

I think we -- you know, I did express some
surprise with him that it unfortunately had come to this
after a 27-year career.

I think he did ask what policy vioclations, and
I told him I was not aware of the policy vioclations

because I hadn't seen & final report at that time; it

- was still a draft at that time. So that's accurate so

far.

0 I think‘thét footnote ends on that page.

A Yeah, pretty much.

Q So.it is pretty much accurate?

A It's pretty much. I don’t'remembe; those
exac; words beiﬁg used about some of it, but it's within
the ballpark range.

i Q He's got in there that he said -- that Captain
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Gardner said, you've gotnfo;be kidding me, to which he'

'sayS»you responded by saying, that's exactly what I said

to ﬁhem.

% A Qh( I don't know the exact words I saidlto
tﬁeﬁ.' I think anytime you'aré told that anfeﬁployee's
goiﬁg to be terminated -~ and in my case, not knowing
thefinvestigation, it was a surprise to me asrmuch as

anYﬁhing else.

L Q Did vyou éuéstionvDirector Coffin -in this:
decision? |

X‘A Not at the time, no.

;‘Q And he saidvsomething like, wow, 1;ﬁ your .

starting quarterback. Do'you recall'him saying anythihg

like that?

"A I don't. He may have said it. I just doh't

récall it.

i Q This last sentence in here he attfibutes to

'you{ He says, when Captain Gardner asked what policy he

~violated, Director Sweat said, quote, "I have no idea,

Rich. I told them it looks bad, it smells bad, it is
bad, but, guys, we simply don't have a policy violation
here," end quote.

Do you recall having~that conversation with

1
!
i

Mr._Coffin?

<

§ A I don't remember the exact terms. What I
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thoﬁght I remember saying was that I was not aware of
the policy violatioris because i had not seen a final
repert. I don't remember saying those exact guoctes.
Q You don't recall commenting on this is bad,
and I told him this was bad, the firing, I guéss?

A No, T think I told him the allegations were

bad.

Q Okay.

A The allegations of him having the affairs.

0 I'm just trying to understand this because it
says -- it attributes you as saying, when he asked what

policy he vioclated, it says, quote, I have no idea,
Rich. Now, that ans&ers that question. Then it goes on
and says, I told them -- so if this is you speéking,
them must be Coffin -- it looks bad, it smells bad, it~
is ﬁad. But, guys, we simply don't have a policy
violation here.

éo I guess what you're sayigg is you told them
it looks bad, his relationship looks bad?

A Oh, absoclutely.

0 It smells bad, it is bad, but we don't have a
,polﬁcy?

; A Well, we don't have a policy of -- we don't
1 .

havel any policies about having an affair, no, that I'm
! .

aware of. I mean, there's supervisor merit rules and
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regulations, but there's not & policy, that I'm aware

of, 'about héving an affair. And Richard asked me that

on several occasions, 1f we had a policy about -- his

exact words were, I'm not. aware that we have a policy

i

foréme being a bad husband, and I said, I'm not aware of .

thaf policy either.
0 And when he asked you that, that was --
o\ I don't know if. it was that day or not, but he

was making a general comment and I was answering his

direct question. His direct question was, do we have a

policy that I'm a bad husband? I said, no, I'm.not

awaﬁe that we have a policy for being a bad husband.

i 0 Before this conversation on-October 13 with
Captain Gardner had you éxpressed to Directorléoffin
that we don’'t have a policy vioiation here?

i A There was a meeting with Mr. Coffin, Mf; Ryan,

and myself. There was some discussion, and, yes, the

(poiﬁt was brought up about what policy violations that

we Qould'or would not have; they were still being lqoked
into at the time. And there>was,sohe generic policieé,
and%then there were some direct guestions asked about
ceréain aspécts of the in&estigation, whether thefe'was
an %xact pblicy to, for instance, the affairs, and then

we %oncluded that meeting with Mr. Coffin's

recommendation that he was going to go to the county
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manéger and speak to him about his recommendation.
% o) I think we're almost done, but let me just

maké sure I didn't miss anything that I was going to ask

' abouﬁ.

MR. WHITEMAN: I don't have anything else to
" ask.

(The proceedings were concluded at 12:55 p.m.)
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STATE OF FLORIDA )
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